IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-702

SCA EFiled: Feb 09 2024 10:24AM EST Transaction ID 72001714

ERIE INSURANCE PROPERTY & CASUALTY COMPANY,

Petitioner,

VS.

JAMES SKYLAR COOPER,

Respondent.

CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT,
No. 22-1129

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Matthew J. Perry, Esquire WVSB 8589
Jill E. Lansden, Esquire WVSB 12769
BURNS WHITE, LLC
720 Fourth Avenue
Huntington, West Virginia 25701
(304) 523-5400
mjperry@burnswhite.com
jelansden@burnswhite.com
Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This certified question to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals arises from a declaratory judgment action filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia concerning the availability of underinsured motorist ("UIM") coverage for James Skylar Cooper ("Cooper") for a motor vehicle accident that occurred on August 9, 2019. [JA 366]. At the time of the accident, Cooper was working for his employer, Pison Management, Inc. ("Pison Management"), and riding as a guest passenger in a personal vehicle owned and operated by a coemployee, Rick Huffman ("Huffman"). [J.A 414; 388]. As a result of his injuries and a settlement for the tortfeasor's limits of liability coverage, Cooper collected UIM coverage through policies issued to his mother and grandmother, and also sought UIM coverage through a commercial auto policy issued by Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company ("Erie") to Pison Management. [JA 419 – 452; 291].

While the Erie Policy provided UIM coverage for autos owned by Pison Management, it did not provide UIM coverage for non-owned autos, including the Huffman vehicle, and there was no premium charged for UIM coverage for non-owned autos. [JA 419]. Separately, the Erie Policy did not provide UIM coverage to Cooper because Cooper did not fall within the definition of "Persons We Protect", as defined by the Erie Policy. [JA 439]. By way of the underlying declaratory judgment action, the District Court recognized that the Erie Policy did not provide UIM coverage to Cooper, but for the first time held that W. Va. Code § 33-6-31 and public policy required insurers to offer UIM coverage for non-owned autos when that non-owned auto qualifies for liability coverage under the policy of insurance. [JA 13 - 26]. Based on this conclusion, the District Court reformed the Erie Policy to add UIM coverage for non-owned autos and otherwise

concluded that Cooper was entitled to that coverage for the August 9, 2019 motor vehicle accident. *Id.*

The underlying facts and circumstances surrounding the August 9, 2019 motor vehicle accident are not in dispute. On the morning of the accident, Cooper was picked up by Huffman in Huffman's personal vehicle and the two traveled to a job location in Cross Lanes, West Virginia where they were to meet other employees and get grass-cutting equipment they needed for the job that day. [JA 402]. Once Huffman and Cooper arrived at the Cross Lanes location, they assisted in attaching a trailer to a 2003 Chevrolet Silverado owned by Pison Management and loaded the trailer with the lawn cutting equipment they needed. *Id.* Once the trailer was attached and loaded, Huffman and Cooper walked back to Huffman's vehicle and waited for the other employees to leave for the job site. [JA 404].

When the group left for the job site, Huffman and Cooper were riding in Huffman's personal vehicle and were following two other vehicles. [JA 405]. The first vehicle in the convoy had two Pison Management employees in a 2019 Dodge Ram. [JA 404 - 405]. The Dodge Ram was owned by Pison Management and was a listed vehicle on the Erie Policy. [JA 419]. The second vehicle in line was a 2004 Chevrolet Silverado operated by another Pison Management employee, Demetrius Elder. [JA 373 - 375]. The Chevrolet Silverado was owned by Pison Management and was a listed vehicle on the Erie Policy. [JA 419]. The Huffman vehicle, occupied by Huffman and Cooper, was the third vehicle in line. [JA 405]. The Huffman vehicle was not a listed vehicle on the Erie Policy and was not owned by Pison Management. [JA 419; 377].

The motor vehicle accident at issue occurred when the three vehicles were en route to the job site. [JA 401]. At that time, a vehicle owned and operated by Thelma White, while traveling

in the opposite direction, crossed the centerline and struck the trailer attached to the Chevrolet Silverado and then struck the Huffman vehicle head-on. [JA 367].

At the time of the August 9, 2019 motor vehicle accident, Pison Management was insured by a Commercial Auto Insurance Policy issued by Erie, Policy No. Q02 5830178, with a policy period of February 8, 2019 to February 8, 2020 (hereinafter the "Erie Policy"). [JA 419 - 452]. The named insured identified on the Erie Policy is "Pison Management LLC". [JA 419].

As a result of the motor vehicle accident, Mr. Cooper sustained bodily injuries and pursued a claim against Thelma White. After settling his claims for the liability limits of coverage insuring Thelma White, Cooper sought UIM coverage through the Erie Policy. [JA 45 - 51]. Cooper also sought and collected UIM coverage under policies of insurance owned by his mother and grandmother because he was a resident of their household at the time of the motor vehicle accident. [JA 291]. As to the claim for UIM coverage under the Erie Policy, Erie determined that the Huffman vehicle constituted a non-owned auto, that no premium was charged for UIM coverage relative to non-owned autos, and that UIM coverage was not available to Mr. Cooper because he did not meet the definition of Others We Protect in the UIM Endorsement of the Erie Policy. [JA 419; 439].

Cooper disagreed with Erie's coverage determination. Cooper asserted that he was entitled to UIM coverage and advanced two alternate theories. First, Cooper asserted that he was using the Pison Management vehicle that was traveling in front of him at the time of the accident. [JA 45 – 51]. Alternatively, Cooper asserted that Erie was required to offer UIM coverage for non-owned autos and the Huffman vehicle should have been covered for UIM coverage under the Erie Policy. *Id*.

As a result of the dispute over coverage, Erie filed a Petition for Declaratory Judgment on May 7, 2020 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia, seeking a declaration concerning the scope of coverage provided by the Erie Policy for the August 9, 2019 motor vehicle accident. [JA 29 - 36]. On July 6, 2020, Cooper responded to Erie's Petition for Declaratory Judgment and asserted counterclaims for declaratory judgment and breach of contract. [JA 37 - 51].

After a short period for discovery, Erie and Cooper filed cross motions for summary judgment as to the declaratory judgment claims on November 2, 2020. [JA 87 - 89; 112 - 113]. By Memorandum Opinion and Order dated January 28, 2021, the District Court agreed that the terms of the Erie Policy did not provide UIM coverage to Mr. Cooper and further held that Mr. Cooper was not using the Pison Management vehicle traveling in front of him at the time of the accident. [JA 13 - 26].

However, while acknowledging that this issue had never been addressed by this Court, the District Court held that excluding non-owned autos from the offer of UIM coverage was contrary to public policy and West Virginia's omnibus statute, W. Va. Code § 33-6-31, and that insurers in West Virginia are required to offer UIM coverage for non-owned autos that qualify for liability coverage under an automobile policy of insurance. [JA 24 - 26]. As a result, the District Court reformed the Erie Policy to add UIM coverage for non-owned autos in an amount of One Million Dollars, the limits of liability coverage, and further held that Cooper was entitled to collect UIM coverage up to those reformed limits. *Id*.

On January 29, 2021, the District Court entered a Judgment Order in favor of Cooper and dismissed the case from its docket. However, the Judgment Order was vacated in response to Cooper's Rule 59(e) Motion to Amend Judgment by Memorandum Opinion and Order dated

February 26, 2021. By way of its February 26, 2021 Order, the prior Judgment Order was vacated due to the fact that Cooper's breach of contract claim remained pending and denied Cooper's request that the January 28, 2021 Memorandum Opinion and Order be entered pursuant to Rule 54(b) to allow for an immediate appeal. Thereafter, the remaining claims pending before the District Court were mutually resolved while preserving the parties' rights to appeal the District Court's January 28, 2021 Memorandum Opinion and Order. The District Court entered a Final Order on January 13, 2022, dismissing the remaining claims and preserving the parties' rights to appeal. [JA 27 - 28].

Erie timely filed its Notice of Appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit on February 7, 2022. After briefing had been completed, the United States Court of Appeals set the matter for oral argument on September 19, 2023. By Order entered December 5, 2023, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit agreed with the conclusions of the District Court that the Erie Policy, by its terms, did not extend UIM coverage to Cooper or the Huffman vehicle as a result of the August 9, 2019 motor vehicle accident, but certified the following question to this Court:

Does West Virginia Code § 33-6-31 require an insurer, who issues a commercial automobile insurance policy to a named insured providing liability coverage for particular owned vehicles and a class of non-owned vehicles, to offer underinsured motorist coverage for the class of non-owned vehicles?

Accordingly, the only issue before this Court is whether Erie was required to offer UIM coverage for non-owned autos that qualified for liability coverage under the Erie Policy.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The West Virginia Legislature's enactments and this Court's precedents require insurers to offer UIM coverage as an optional coverage to a vehicle *owner* to collect full compensation from their own insurer for amounts not recoverable from an at fault driver who is underinsured. The District Court, on the other hand, created a new requirement that insurers offer UIM coverage for the benefit of third parties who occupy vehicles neither owned by the policyholder nor listed on the insurance policy. No statute nor any decision by this Court has recognized such a requirement. Indeed, pursuant to this Court's precedent, the District Court's expansion of the law is contrary to the purpose of UIM coverage and the statutory framework of W. Va. Code § 33-6-31.

In reaching its decision, the District Court erroneously relied on West Virginia's general public policy of full indemnification for uninsured and underinsured motorist claims to hold that W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(b) requires an insurer to separately extend offers of UIM coverage to non-owned autos when those non-owned autos qualify for liability coverage under the insurance policy. In this particular case, the District Court extended that offer requirement to an *entire class* of unidentified non-owned autos. The impact of the District Court's ruling was to extend UIM coverage for the benefit of third parties to the insurance contract, despite this Court's prior holdings that UIM coverage is for the benefit of the policyholder and that extending the scope of UIM coverage to third parties was "far afield" from what the Legislature intended. This is because UIM coverage already extends to the named insured in a non-owned auto without the need to separately offer that coverage for a non-owned auto.

Statutorily, when a policyholder is provided with an offer of UIM coverage for owned vehicles insured by the policy of insurance, W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(c) mandates that UIM coverage automatically extend to the named insured, his or her spouse, and resident relatives when they are

occupying non-owned autos. Conversely, this statutory framework only requires the provision of UIM coverage to a third party when that third party is occupying a vehicle to which the policy applies. This Court has recently rejected the notion that the extension of liability coverage to a non-owned auto makes that non-owned auto a vehicle to which the policy applies under the statute. The District Court's decision erroneously expands the scope of vehicles to which the policy applies to include non-owned autos solely for broadening the availability of UIM coverage for third parties to the insurance contract.

By expanding the scope of W. Va. Code § 33-6-31 to include UIM coverage offers for vehicles that are not owned *and* not scheduled on the policy of insurance, the District Court misapplied the language of the statute and construed the statute more broadly than has ever been recognized by West Virginia precedent. A plain reading of W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(a) specifically contemplates issuance of those policies to the *owners* of such vehicles. As such, there is only one recipient of the policy identified in that section and it is the owner of the vehicle. In further support of this application, W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(a) thereafter broadens the definition of "owner" for purposes of permissive use, by including within the term "owner" the custodian of the vehicle and ensuring that permissive use of the vehicle can be extended through the custodian's permission. W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(b) thereafter requires that offers of uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage be extended to *the* insured as the "owner" of the vehicles subject to those offers.

The District Court also failed to consider that its decision finding that insurers in this state are required to offer UIM coverage for a class of non-owned vehicles, in addition to those vehicles specifically identified in the insurance policy, prevents an insurer from complying with the statutory obligations of W. Va. Code § 33-6-31d. In order to obtain the statutory presumption of a commercially reasonable offer of UIM coverage, W. Va. Code § 33-6-31d expressly requires an

insurer to identify *the number of vehicles* subject to the offer of UIM coverage. By requiring an insurer to include within that offer a class of vehicles that are non-owned, insurers have the impossible task of complying with both the District Court's holding in this case and its statutory obligations relating to offers of UIM coverage. Not only is West Virginia's established public policy concerning UIM coverage contrary to the District Court's ruling, West Virginia statutory law mandates a different result.

For these reasons, the Petitioner, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company, requests that this Court answer this certified question in the negative and hold that insurers are not required to extend offers of UIM coverage to a class of non-owned autos that are not specifically listed vehicles under the insurance policy.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioner, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company, submits that this case is appropriate for oral argument in accordance with Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, as the certified question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit involves an issue of first impression which is of fundamental importance to how and when UIM coverage must be offered under the statutory framework of W. Va. Code § 33-6-31 and W. Va. Code § 33-6-31d.

ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

When presented with a certified question from a federal district court or federal appellate court, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals' standard of review is *de novo*. *Westfield Insurance Company v. Sisterville Tank Works, Inc.*, 895 S.E.2d 142, 148 (W. Va. 2023), citing Syllabus Pt. 1, *Light v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 203 W. Va. 27, 506 S.E.2d 64 (1998) ("A *de novo* standard is applied by this Court in addressing the legal issues presented by a certified question from a federal district of appellate court.").

B. WEST VIRGINIA PUBLIC POLICY DOES NOT REQUIRE OFFERS OF UIM COVERAGE FOR NON-OWNED AUTOS BECAUSE UIM COVERAGE IS ALREADY EXTENDED TO THE NAMED INSURED FOR NON-OWNED AUTOS

For purposes of UIM coverage, W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(c) creates two classes of insureds. The first class of insureds ("Class I insureds") include the, "named insured and, while resident of the same household, the spouse of any such named insured and relatives of either, while in a motor vehicle or otherwise." W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(c). The second class of insureds ("Class II insureds") include, "any person, except a bailee for hire, who uses, with the consent, expressed or implied, of the named insured, the motor vehicle to which the policy applies." Id. The import of these separate classifications of insureds is that Class I insureds are entitled to broader protection, "while in a motor vehicle or otherwise" and protection for Class II insureds is limited to their occupancy of "the motor vehicle to which the policy applies." Id. (emphasis added); see also Starr v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 188 W. Va. 313, 316, 423 S.E.2d 922, 925 (1992) (emphasis added) ("It is generally held that uninsured/underinsured motorist provisions of an automobile insurance policy which separately define coverage for the owner, spouse, and any relative living in the owner's

¹ There is no dispute in this case that Cooper would be considered a Class II insured.

household as one group, and for other persons while occupying the covered vehicle with the consent of the <u>owner</u> or his or her spouse as another group, create two distinct classes of covered individuals").

While West Virginia has recognized a general public policy behind W. Va. Code § 33-6-31 for the "full indemnification or compensation underlying both uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage," that public policy has never been extended to broaden the scope of who qualifies as an insured for purposes of that coverage. *State Auto Mut. Ins. Co. v. Youler*, 183 W. Va. 556, 564, 396 S.E.2d 737, 745 (W.Va. 1990). In fact, before applying the public policy enunciated in *Youler*, this Court has stated that, "the party's status as an insured under the policy must first be established before it can be determined that underinsured coverage is available." *Alexander v. State Auto Mut. Ins. Co.*, 187 W. Va. 72, 75, 415 S.E.2d 618, 621 (1992). Despite this stated limitation, the District Court misapplied that general public policy pronouncement to expand the definition of an insured when it concluded that offers of UIM coverage for a class of non-owned autos are required when that non-owned auto is insured for liability coverage.

After the District Court reached its decision in this case, this Court decided *Progressive Max Ins. Co. v. Brehm*, 246 W. Va. 328, 873 S.E.2d 859 (2022). *Brehm* is in direct conflict with the District Court's decision. In *Brehm*, this Court rejected the notion that UIM coverage had to be extended to guest passengers of a non-owned auto despite the fact that the driver's personal auto policy was statutorily required to provide the primary level of liability coverage for that non-owned auto. *Progressive Max Ins. Co. v. Brehm*, 246 W. Va. 328, 873 S.E.2d 859 (2022). In other words, this Court concluded that the provision of liability coverage to a non-owned auto did not make the non-owned auto "the motor vehicle to which the policy applies", such that UIM coverage would extend to a Class II insured. *W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(c)*.

The significance of the holding in *Brehm* as to its impact on the certified question in this case is clear. If UIM coverage for a Class I insured already extends to the occupancy of non-owned autos in accordance with W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(c), there would be no need for an insurer to separately offer UIM coverage for non-owned autos for the benefit of the Class I insured. The only purpose for a specific offer requirement of UIM coverage for non-owned autos would be to extend the scope of UIM coverage for a Class II insured, such that the non-owned auto would constitute "the motor vehicle to which the policy applies." *W. Va. Code § 33-6-31(c)*. Such a finding would be wholly inconsistent with this Court's well-reasoned precedent that the purpose of UIM coverage is "to enable the insured to protect *himself*, if he chooses to do so, against losses occasioned by the negligence of other drivers who are underinsured." *Deel v. Sweeney*, 181 W. Va. 460, 463, 383 S.E.2d 92, 95 (1989) (emphasis added).

In *Brehm*, this Court found that the insurance policy issued by Progressive Max, by its terms, did not extend UIM coverage to the two guest passengers of the non-owned rental car because the two guest passengers did not meet the definition of an "insured person" and the rental vehicle was not a "covered auto". So, the only question before the *Brehm* Court was whether restricting the availability of UIM coverage for Class II insureds while occupying a non-owned auto was more restrictive than required by statute or public policy. In holding that such restrictions were entirely consistent with statute and public policy, this Court reaffirmed its holding in *Starr*, supra, that a Class II insured was not entitled to the same protections as a Class I insured.

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