IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-702

SCA EFiled: Mar 12 2024

02:02PM EDT

Transaction ID 72495193

ERIE INSURANCE PROPERTY & CASUALTY COMPANY.

Petitioner

VS.

JAMES SKYLAR COOPER,

Respondent.

CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FOURTH CIRCUIT, No. 22-1129

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

R. Chad Duffield, Esquire WVSB 9583
Farmer, Cline & Campbell, PLLC
746 Myrtle Road
Charleston, West Virginia 25314
(304) 346-5990
rcduffield@fcclaw.net

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The West Virginia omnibus statute requires that anytime an insurer agrees to provide liability insurance for a vehicle, it must also offer UIM coverage for that vehicle. The West Virginia Legislature made no distinction between the types of liability policies that trigger this requirement and those that are exempt. Thus, no liability policies are exempt. This is consistent with longstanding West Virginia law that requires insurers to make UIM coverage available for injuries causally connected to the <u>use</u> (including occupancy) of a insured vehicle. See Syl. Pt. 6, *Keefer v. Ferrell*, 221 W.Va. 348, 655 S.E.2d 94 (2007) (*per curiam*); see also Syl. Pt. 3, *Adkins v. Meador*, 201 W.Va. 148, 494 S.E.2d 915 (1997). It is also consistent with the preeminent public policy of West Virginia that injured persons be fully compensated for his or her damages not compensated by an underinsured tortfeasor. *See State Auto Mut. Ins. Co. v. Youler*, 183 W.Va. 556, 564, 396 S.E.2d 737, 745 (1990).

Unlike the factual situations presented in the cases relied upon in *Petitioner's Brief*, Erie chose to make the non-owned vehicle in question a covered auto and Mr. Cooper was occupying that covered auto at the time he was injured. These important facts, combined with Erie's failure to make an offer of UIM coverage for the non-owned vehicles, are why Mr. Cooper is entitled to UIM coverage, as determined by Judge Berger. This outcome is entirely consistent with existing West Virginia case law. To accept Erie's position and answer the certified question in the negative, this Court must ignore decades of established common law and carve out an exemption that the West Virginia Legislature never made part of the West Virginia omnibus statute.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Cooper submits that this case is appropriate for oral argument in accordance with Rule 20 of the *West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure*, as the certified question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit involves an issue of fundamental importance as to how and when UIM coverage must be offered under the statutory framework of the omnibus provisions contained within *West Virginia Code* § 33-6-31 and *West Virginia Code* § 33-6-31d.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When presented with a certified question from a federal district court or federal appellate court, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia's standard of review is de novo. Syl. Pt. 2, Westfield Ins. Co. v. Sistersville Tank Works, Inc., 2023 W.Va. LEXIS 455, 895 S.E.2d 142 (2023), (citing Syl. Pt. 1, Light v. Allstate Ins. Co., 203 W. Va. 27, 506 S.E.2d 64 (1998)) ("[a] de novo standard is applied by this Court in addressing the legal issues presented by a certified question from a federal district of appellate court.").

ARGUMENT

I. FOR ANY AUTO ERIE CHOOSES TO INSURE AS A COVERED AUTO, ERIE MUST PROVIDE LIABILITY COVERAGE FOR BOTH THE NAMED INSURED AND THE DRIVER OF THE COVERED AUTO.

The mistake Erie made (which makes all the difference) was choosing to make Pison's employees' vehicles "covered autos' under the Policy. By doing so, Erie triggered the mandatory liability requirements under the West Virginia omnibus statute – West Virginia Code §33-6-31(a). Specifically, when an insurance company issues a policy "covering liability arising from ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle" that policy must absolutely contain "a provision insuring the named insured and. . . any other person . . . responsible for the use of or using the motor vehicle... against liability." See W.Va. Code §33-6-31(a) (emphasis added).

Erie acknowledges that it was attempting to provide liability coverage to the named insured (Pison) for "potential vicarious liability arising from" an employee's use of the vehicle, but **not** provide liability coverage for the employee driver, in this instance Mr. Huffman. See Petitioner's Brief, p. 20.8 This attempt was in direct violation of West Virginia Code §33-6-31(a) which requires all liability policies to provide coverage for the named insured **and** anyone using the covered vehicle. See W.Va. Code §31-6-31(a) (emphasis added).

The first step in this analysis is determining whether Erie wrote a liability policy that insured Mr. Huffman's vehicle as a covered auto. The clear answer to that question is yes. Then, if Erie wrote a policy covering the named insured (Pison) for liability arising out of the use of that vehicle, was Erie permitted to try to exclude liability

⁸ Erie claims "Mr. Huffman did not qualify as an insured for liability coverage" under the policy.

coverage for the actual driver of that vehicle? Based on the explicit requirements of West Virginia Code §33-6-31(a), the clear answer is no — a liability policy must provide coverage for both the named insured and also permissive users.

As it is clear that Erie wrote a liability policy covering the Huffman vehicle for liability, the question then becomes what other coverage Erie was required to offer for that covered auto. The answer to that question comes from the next section of the West Virginia omnibus statute – West Virginia Code §33-6-31(b). As discussed below, because Erie wrote a liability policy covering the Huffman vehicle, it was then required to offer UM and UIM coverage for that covered auto and failed to so.

Notably, there were other ways that Erie could have insured Pison's risk of vicarious liability without choosing to make the non-owned vehicles "covered autos" under the liability policy. For instance, Erie's policy already contains insuring language providing coverage to "anyone legally responsible for the conduct of anyone we protect." [J.A. 426]. This language provides coverage to Pison to the extent Pison would be legally responsible (vicariously liable) for the conduct of others. Erie could have included employees within the definition of those whose conduct may give rise to a vicarious claim. Neither one of these options would have made employee vehicles covered autos for which liability coverage for ownership, operation, or use would have been required. Instead, Erie made the employee vehicles covered autos, which makes all the difference under the omnibus statute.

⁹ Erie could have also written vicarious liability coverage into a commercial general liability policy that did not specifically provide auto coverage for Pison's employees' vehicles, but insured the risk that a vicarious liability claim would be asserted arising out of an employee's use of a vehicle while working for Pison.

II. WEST VIRGINIA CODE §33-6-31 REQUIRES ERIE TO OFFER UIM COVERAGE FOR ANY AUTOS INSURED FOR LIABILITY, INCLUDING NON-OWNED AUTOS THAT ARE IDENTIFIED AS COVERED AUTOS ON THE POLICY.

Subsection (b) of the West Virginia omnibus statute requires insurers, like Erie, to offer UIM coverage each and every time a liability policy is issued. *W.Va. Code* §33-6-31(b). There is neither a distinction in the West Virginia omnibus statute nor in West Virginia common law that exempts non-owned vehicle liability policies from the requirement to offer UIM coverage. Contrary to Erie's claim that the omnibus provisions do not apply to liability policies for non-owned vehicles, the plain language of the statute requires UM and UIM coverage to be offered anytime a liability policy is written for a "covered" vehicle, whether the policy covers owned vehicles, non-owned vehicles, or both, like the Erie Policy at issue in this case. *See W.Va. Code* §33-6-31. The fact of the matter is the Huffman vehicle was a covered auto under the Erie policy – a fact Erie admits – and Mr. Cooper qualifies as an insured by occupying the covered auto – a fact Erie also admits. What Erie wants is for this Court to provide a carve out that the Legislature never made part of the West Virginia omnibus statute.

A. Section (a) of the West Virginia Omnibus Statute Identifies the Types of Liability Policies That Trigger a Mandatory Offer of UM and UIM Coverages.

Section (a) of the West Virginia omnibus statute specifically provides that no policy covering liability for the use of **any motor vehicle** may be issued in West Virginia unless it contains a provision insuring not only the named insured, but any other permissive user of the vehicle:

(a) No policy or contract of bodily injury liability insurance, or of property damage liability insurance, covering liability arising from the ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle, may be issued or

delivered in this state to the owner of such vehicle, or may be issued or delivered by any insurer licensed in this state upon any motor vehicle for which a certificate of title has been issued by the Division of Motor Vehicles of this state, unless it contains a provision insuring the named insured and any other person except a bailee for hire and any persons specifically excluded by a restrictive endorsement attached to the policy, responsible for the use of or using the motor vehicle with the consent, expressed or implied, of the named insured or his or her spouse against liability for death or bodily injury sustained or loss or damage occasioned within the coverage of the policy or contract as a result of negligence in the operation or use of such vehicle by the named insured or by such person[...]

W.Va. Code §33-6-31(a), in part (emphasis added).

Despite the fact that the statute twice references "any motor vehicle," Erie focuses on the phrase "may be issued or delivered in this state to the owner of such vehicle" to try to argue that the statute only applies to liability policies covering owned autos. However, immediately following the phrase Erie references is the conjunction "or" linking it to the next phrase: "may be issued or delivered by any insurer licensed in this state upon any motor vehicle for which a certificate of title has been issued by the Division of Motor Vehicles of this state...[.]" W. Va. Code §33-6-31(a), in part (emphasis added). Upon a full reading of the statute, the requirements apply to not only policies issued to owners, but also policies issued for any vehicle titled in the State of West Virginia — whether the owner is the person insuring the vehicle, or if it is a non-owner insuring the vehicle. W. Va. Code §33-6-31(b).

Erie's claim is perhaps most contradicted by the fact that section (a) continues on to specifically reference situations where the named insured purchases liability insurance for vehicles he or she does not own:

Provided, That in any such automobile liability insurance policy or contract, or endorsement thereto, if coverage resulting from the use of a nonowned automobile is conditioned upon the consent of the

owner of such motor vehicle, the word "owner" shall be construed to include the custodian of such nonowned motor vehicles.

W.Va. Code §33-6-31(a), in part (emphasis added). Erie argues that reference to non-owned vehicles in this part is "to ensure that a person who is the custodian of the auto, even though not the owner, can provide permission." Petitioner's Brief, p. 22. However, if section (a) only applies to liability policies covering owned vehicles, reference to non-owned vehicles would not have been necessary. When permission was addressed, the Legislature would have simply referred to consent of the named insured, his or her spouse, and any custodian of the vehicle. If the omnibus statute does not apply to non-owned vehicles, the language cited above would not have been necessary or included. The fact that the statute specifically references non-owned vehicles demonstrates that the requirements of West Virginia Code §33-6-31 do apply to liability policies insuring both owned and non-owned vehicles, like the Erie Policy at issue here.

In West Virginia, "[a] cardinal rule of statutory construction is that significance and effect must, if possible, be given to every section, claim, word or part of the statute." *Jackson v. Belcher*, 232 W.Va. 513, 518, 753 S.E.2d 11, 16 (2013) (*citing* Syl. Pt. 3, *Meadows v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 207 W.Va. 203, 530 S.E.2d 676 (1999)). When a statute is "clear and unambiguous" it will not be interpreted "but will be given full force and effect." Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Epperly*, 135 W.Va. 877, 65 S.E.2d 488 (1951). Courts should look first to the statute's language and, if the plain meaning of the statute answers the question, the language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed. *See State ex rel. Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc. v. Webster*, 242 W.Va.

88, 94, 829 S.E.2d 290, 296 (2019) (citing Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dept. of W.Va., 195 W.Va. 573, 587, 466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (1995)). Applying the plain language of the omnibus statute results in but one conclusion – the requirements apply to liability policies that cover owned vehicles, as well as the more unusual circumstance, such as here, where the liability policy includes non-owned vehicles as a covered auto.

B. Section (b) of the West Virginia Omnibus Statute Requires UM and UIM Coverage Offers for the Same Types of Liability Policies Identified in Section (a).

Section (b) of the omnibus statute then addresses UM and UIM coverage. Leaving no doubt that the Legislature, in section (b), was referencing the same types of policies referenced in section (a), section (b) begins by referring back to the types of policies or contracts referenced in section (a): "Nor may any such policy or contract...[.] W.Va. Code §33-6-31(b), in part (emphasis added). The language "any such policy or contract" obviously refers to the same types of policies listed in section (a) – both those providing liability coverage for owned vehicles, as well as liability policies providing coverage for non-owned autos. Even Erie admits that the policies of insurance at issue in section (b) are the same as those referenced in section (a). [J.A. 247].

Section (b) continues on by requiring that all such liability policies or contracts provide an option for UM and UIM coverage:

Provided further, That such policy or contract shall provide an option...with appropriately adjusted premiums to pay the insured all sums which he or she is legally entitled to recover as damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured or underinsured motor vehicle up to an amount not less than limits of bodily injury liability insurance

and property damage liability insurance purchased by the insured without set off against the insured's policy or any other policy.

W. Va. Code §33-6-31(b), in part (emphasis added). Again, the plain language of the statute results in but one conclusion — UM and UIM coverage must be offered with any policy or contract providing liability coverage, whether it be for owned or non-owned vehicles. W.Va. Code §33-6-31(b). There is absolutely nothing in the statute that indicates that the types of policies referenced in section (a) are different than the types of policies referenced in section (b) would not begin with the phrase "[n]or may any such policy or contract" but would rather identify the different policies for which section (b) applies.

C. Section (c) of the West Virginia Omnibus Statute Expands the UM and UIM Benefits to Occupants of the Covered Autos.

Erie argues that the omnibus statute is not intended to benefit third parties who are not the named insured. *Petitioner's Brief*, p. 31. Once again, the language of the omnibus statute demonstrates that Erie is wrong. Section (b) refers to the purpose of UM and UIM coverage being to "pay the **insured** all sums he or she is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an uninsured or underinsured motor vehicle[...]" *W.Va. Code* §33-6-31(b) (emphasis added). The term "**insured**" is later defined in section (c) to include not only the named insured and his or her resident spouse, but also "**any person** . . . **who uses** . . . **the motor vehicle to which the policy applies**[...]." *W.Va. Code* §33-6-31(c), in part (emphasis added). The benefit

¹⁰ The definitions in *West Virginia Code* §33-6-31(c) state that they apply to the entirety of section 31 and, therefore, necessarily to *West Virginia Code* §33-6-31(b) where it requires the **insured** (the named insured, resident relatives, and anyone using the vehicle) to receive all sums he or she is legally entitled to recover as damages from an underinsured motor vehicle.

protections afforded by the UM and UIM provisions are intended to benefit not just the named insured and his resident spouse, but **ANY** permissive user of a motor vehicle insured under the policy. See Starr v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 188 W.Va. 313, 315-318, 423 S.E.2d 922, 924-927 (1992) (a permissive user's occupancy in a covered auto entitles that user to recover UM or UIM coverage); see also W.Va. Code §33-3-31(c) (definitions are applicable to entire section).¹¹

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